47681-9-II

RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Dec 17, 2014, 1:26 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

No. 90584-3

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WASHINGTON TRUCKING ASSOCIATIONS, a Washington nonprofit corporation; EAGLE SYSTEMS, INC., a Washington corporation, GORDON TRUCKING, INC., a Washington corporation; HANEY TRUCK LINE, INC., a Washington corporation; JASPER TRUCKING, INC., a Washington corporation; PSFL LEASING, INC., a Washington corporation, and SYSTEM-TWT TRANSPORTATION d/b/a SYSTEM-TWT, a Washington limited liability company,

Appellants,

v.

#### A. INTRODUCTION

This is a case about taxpayer abuse. The individual trucking carriers ("Carriers")<sup>1</sup> and the Washington Trucking Associations ("WTA") appeal the trial court's premature dismissal of their complaint, which sought relief under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 and various state common law theories<sup>2</sup> against the State, its Employment Security Department, and various officers (hereinafter "ESD") for their performance of rigged audits designed deliberately to impose unemployment taxes on the Carriers. Such taxes are not permitted by law. The imposition of such taxes will restructure the trucking industry in Washington by eliminating owner/operators (independent contractors who own their trucks and trailers and lease them to motor carriers). Owner/operators have been used in the industry for more than a century, and their utilization is recognized and regulated by federal law.

The individual company plaintiffs are all motor carriers who have been assessed unemployment taxes, and are referred to as "the Carriers" unless an individual reference is more appropriate. All are members of the WTA. The WTA is a trade association established to protect and promote the interests of all segments of the Washington trucking industry. CP 215, 218. Many of its members utilize independent owner/operators when needed to assist with the delivery of cargo. CP 215. WTA has a keen interest in how the trucking industry generally, and its members specifically, operate. CP 215. The stated mission of the WTA is to promote a favorable and profitable operating climate for the industry's members. CP 215. This mission includes protecting the industry's use of owner/operators and ensuring that its members are taxed only as allowed by Washington law. CP 215.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Carriers argued a number of common law tort remedies below. On review, they confine their argument to their constitutional claims and tortious interference with their business expectancies.

At issue is whether there is any legal remedy at all for ESD's abuse of its taxing powers, including under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 and for the state court claim of tortious interference.

Through sham audits with deliberately rigged results, ESD targeted Carriers and others in the trucking industry to tax them for their use of owner/operators as follows: The "auditors" were instructed to find liability and they were given quotas of taxes to collect. One auditor (Joy Stewart) even sought a cut of what she collected. Unemployment taxes were imposed on the Carriers when ESD *knew* such taxes were forbidden under Washington law. Even when ordered to correct the tax amounts in the administrative process, ESD refused to do so, causing WTA and the Carriers to incur more legal expense.

On a CR 12(b)(6) motion, the trial court dismissed the Carriers' complaint, essentially on the basis that the Carriers must exhaust their administrative remedies before being allowed to bring a claim under 42 U.S.C. § 1983. Such dismissal is contrary to this Court's decision in *Jones v. State*, 170 Wn.2d 338, 242 P.3d 825 (2010), and well-developed law that exhaustion is not required for a claim under § 1983. Moreover, exhaustion certainly would not be required for a tort claim where it would be futile. The administrative process could not afford the Carriers an adequate remedy for harm they have suffered. Indeed, that

"administrative process" was itself the reason the Carriers were deprived of their rights. Further, to require a complete exhaustion of administrative remedies would deprive the Carriers of their claims because the time required to exhaust would result in statues of limitations barring any such causes of action.

#### B. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

#### (1) Assignment of Error

The trial court erred in entering its order of dismissal and judgment on July 11, 2014.

#### (2) <u>Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error</u>

- 1. Where ESD deliberately abused its authority by rigging the audits of the Carriers, illicitly imposing unemployment compensation taxes on them for their owner/operators for the purpose of restructuring Washington's trucking industry, did the Carriers state a claim against ESD under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 in light of *Jones* and the Federal Aviation Administration Authorization Act ("FAAAA"), 49 U.S.C. § 14502(c)(1)? (Assignment of Error Number 1)
- 2. Did the trial court err in concluding that the Carriers were obligated to exhaust administrative remedies before pursuing their § 1983 and state tort claim relief when such action would be futile as no administrative remedies actually existed for the Carriers or WTA and pursuit of such remedies would time-bar such claims? (Assignment of Error Number 1)
- 3. Did the trial court err in dismissing the Carriers' common law tortious interference claim in light of this Court's decision in *Pleas v. City of Seattle*, 112 Wn.2d 794, 774 P.2d 1158 (1989), where ESD used its audit power in bad faith and assessed taxes arbitrarily and capriciously to eliminate the Carriers'

relationship with their owner/operators, conduct that had the objective of harming the Carriers or was the product of wrongful means? (Assignment of Error Number 1)

4. Did the trial court err in dismissing WTA's §1983 claim when it has standing as a representative of the trucking industry and its members, and WTA expended attorney fees and costs to contest ESD's improper imposition of taxes? (Assignment of Error Number 1)

#### C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### (1) What the Trial Court Considered and Its Decision

ESD brought its motion based upon CR 12(b)(6) (motion to dismiss) and CR 12(c) (judgment on the pleadings). CP 253. The ESD motion relied upon the pleadings filed in the trial court and records outside the pleadings attached to the declaration of Eric Peterson, asserting that the trial court was allowed to consider such matters on a CR 12 motion under *Rodriguez v. Loudeye Corp.*, 144 Wn. App. 709, 725-26, 189 P.3d 168 (2008). CP 256. WTA and the Carriers responded to the motion relying upon the pleadings filed and the public records and court pleadings attached to the declaration of Philip Talmadge under the same theory as ESD. CP 427. In addition, WTA and the Carriers appended to their response (CP 479-502) a set of "hypothetical facts" which could be relied upon in opposition to the motion to dismiss as allowed under *Halverson v. Dahl*, 89 Wn.2d 673, 674-75, 574 P.2d 1190 (1978). CP 427. No objections were raised by any party to the consideration by the trial court

of these materials outside the pleadings. The trial court order recites that it considered all the materials submitted, including the hypothetical facts. The motion was decided as a motion to dismiss. CP 692.

#### (2) The Carriers, Owner/Operators and the Trucking Industry

The Carriers are for-hire general freight carriers operating in a number of states under federal authority. Given the volatile and fluctuating demand for trucking services, the Carriers contract with owner/operators to lease trucking equipment on an as-needed basis. CP 218.

Owner/operators have been part of the American trucking industry for decades. CP 218. Owner/operators have their own businesses and own their trucking equipment, which consists of the truck tractor, and occasionally the trailer used to haul cargo. CP 218. These tractors and trailers are expensive pieces of equipment. CP 222. Federal law permits owner/operators to lease their trucking equipment to motor carriers. CP 219. The relationship between a motor carrier and an owner/operator is contractual: the carrier leases the equipment from the owner/operator in return for payment. CP 218. Owner/operators may operate the leased equipment personally or may hire their own employees to do so. CP 218.

The interstate trucking industry is extensively regulated by the federal government. Relevant statutes and regulations dictate the terms

and conditions by which motor carriers may perform authorized transportation in trucking equipment that they do not own. CP 218-19. Specifically, federal laws and regulations specify the contractual terms and practices for owner/operators. CP 219. For example, 49 C.F.R. § 376.12(c)(1) requires that any leased equipment must be operated under the federal "license" or operating authority of the motor carrier leasing the equipment; the motor carrier is required to maintain "exclusive possession, control, and use of the equipment for the duration of the lease." CP 219. The leasing contracts must contain provisions that specify which party is going to pay various expenses like vehicle taxes, fuel, or maintenance. CP 210-49; C.F.R. § 376 et seq.

The pervasive federal regulatory scheme *requires* that carriers and owner/operators have certain provisions in their contracts. CP 219. Neither contracting party has any choice about the inclusion of this language if they are to comply with federal law. Federal law also provides that nothing in those laws and regulations was intended to affect whether the owner/operator is an independent contractor or an employee. 49 C.F.R. § 376.12(c)(4). CP 219.

#### (3) Washington's Unemployment Compensation System

Washington, like all other states, has enacted a scheme to address the consequences of unemployment, contained in RCW Title 50, under authority of the "Commissioner." RCW 50.01.010. The State enacted the "compulsory setting aside of unemployment reserves." RCW 50.01.010. Those paying the "compulsory reserves" are "employers" who make "contributions." RCW 50.24.010. "Contributions" are taxes due to the State. RCW 50.04.072.

In enacting Title 50, the Legislature only authorized taxation in specified areas. The statute creates a threshold test as to whether a purported employer has persons engaged in "employment." RCW 50:04.100. Its application in interstate commerce is limited by other provisions of Title 50. *Id.* One limitation is whether any of the activity associated with the service has a nexus to Washington, as defined in statute. RCW 50.04.110. This concept is known as "situs." The Legislature also provided an exemption from taxation for independent contractors in RCW 50.04.140. *See* Appendix.

The Legislature also limited what can be taxed. Unemployment taxes can be levied only on "wages." "Wages means the remuneration paid by one employer ...to an individual in its employment." RCW 50.04.320(1). "Remuneration means all compensation paid for personal services." RCW 50.04.320(4)(a). By definition, payment made for renting equipment is not "wages" subject to tax. The Legislature also excluded corporations as being an "employing unit" when all personal

services are performed by bona fide corporate officers. RCW 50.04.090(2).

To determine whether an employer is "delinquent," and, if so, the amount owed, the Commissioner has authorized "audits" of actual or putative employers. If the Commissioner finds that any taxes have are "delinquent," the Commissioner issues an "order and notice of assessment." RCW 50.24.070. Once the notice and order of assessment has been issued, if it is not paid, the Commissioner may use compulsory process, seizing property to obtain payment.

Washington law provides for an administrative law appeal when a tax assessment is imposed on a taxpayer; however, the appeals process is internal to ESD and is controlled by its Commissioner. Although administrative law judges ("ALJs") of the Office of Administrative Hearings conduct the administrative hearings, an appeal from an ALJ's ruling goes to the Commissioner pursuant to RCW 50.32.080, and the Commissioner makes the final decision pursuant to RCW 50.32.090.

Judicial review of a decision by the Commissioner is allowed under the Administrative Procedure Act, RCW 34.05.570 ("APA"), and is limited to the administrative record. If judicial review is sought by a taxpayer contesting an assessment, the taxpayer must first pay the disputed

amount to the Commissioner or into the registry of the court. RCW 50.32.130.

Washington law prohibits a court from enjoining an assessment, or requiring a refund or adjustment of it except as provided in Title 50. Declaratory relief is not available. RCW 50.32.180.

#### (4) The Trucking Industry and Unemployment Taxes

The Carriers here registered with the State and paid unemployment taxes on their employees, including company drivers. CP 221.

Historically, however, the trucking industry and these Carriers did not pay unemployment taxes on owner/operators because the Commissioner determined, and the Court of Appeals confirmed, that owner/operators were not employees for which unemployment taxes were required. *Penick v. Employment Sec. Dep't*, 82 Wn. App 30, 34-36, 39, 917 P.2d 136, *review denied*, 130 Wn.2d 1004 (1996) (drawing distinction between true owner/operators not covered by RCW Title 50 and contract drivers carrier actually controlled; ESD did not appeal ALJ decision that true owner/operators were exempt).<sup>3</sup> In addition, the State represented

This was consistent with the treatment of owner/operators as to worker compensation. Carriers are statutorily exempted from covering owner/operators. RCW 51.08.180. See Wash. Dep't of Labor & Indus. v. Mitchell Bros. Truck Line, Inc., 113 Wn. App. 700, 706-10, 54 P.3d 711 (2002) (statutory exemption applied even though operators leased their trucks from the carrier and, in turn, leased them back to the carrier).

that if, as with owner/operators, substantial equipment is brought to the relationship, then unemployment taxes need not be paid. CP 222.

These Carriers and other WTA members do report amounts paid to owner/operators by issuing federal income tax form 1099. CP 223, 488. The 1099s identify total amounts paid. CP 488.

#### (5) ESD's Rigged Audits of the Carriers

Treating owner/operators as independent contractors was perfectly acceptable until ESD changed the rules. In the economic downturn, ESD, at the direction of Trause, Ward, and Byington, established an "underground economy" unit to collect additional taxes from certain industries. CP 221. "Underground economy" usually refers to businesses that customarily use cash, do not register with the State, and do not pay their taxes. Ward headed up the overall efforts and Byington was designated the head of a new unit for this purpose. CP 489. Special underground economy auditors, such as Stewart, were hired to conduct the auditing efforts. CP 222, 489. In addition, similar assignments were given to District Tax Offices where Hartung and Swangwan were employed. CP 222, 489.

Instead of pursuing the underground economy firms, ESD decided to target the trucking industry, including the Carriers, who are legitimate, tax-paying businesses and certainly are not underground economy entities.

They were all registered with the State and paid required taxes, including unemployment taxes on their employees. CP 221. Suddenly, after decades of treating owner/operators as independent contractors, judicially-approved in *Penick*, ESD decided to reclassify them as employees and motor carriers would be assessed taxes on payments to owner/operators. ESD subjected hundreds of trucking firms to audits and tax assessments. CP 490.

WTA, these Carriers, and generally all trucking firms which use owner/operators, noted that ESD's reclassification of owner/operators into employees would effectively mean the end of the trucking industry's ability to use owner/operators. CP 490. This would result in increased cost to the industry by requiring it to purchase additional trucks and trailers that would not always be used when the economy was slack, as well as the additional cost associated with having employees. In some instances, routing would be affected because firms and routes outside Washington might be used, or certain services discontinued. CP 490. All of this would effectively restructure the industry and affect "prices, routes, and services," triggering federal preemption. CP 472, 490.

In the case of the Carriers here, they were subjected to audits that resulted in notices and orders of assessment imposing added taxes, penalties, and interest against them. The Carriers appealed the improper assessments administratively and the cases were initially assigned to the Office of Administrative Hearings. CP 223.<sup>4</sup> The cases were not consolidated for hearing, but were assigned to a single ALJ, Todd Gay, for prehearing matters. CP 491. It is presently unknown how many of the hundreds of firms audited received tax assessments. CP 491.<sup>5</sup>

Discovery then revealed that the audits were rigged, with an employment relationship and tax liability predetermined by ESD. CP 491. This is because Trause, Ward, and Byington required it. CP 222-23. Ward, Byington, and others imposed on auditors such as Stewart performance criteria that required the auditor to find against the taxpayer 98 to 100 percent of the time with minimum quotas of taxes to be collected and new employees to be "found" each quarter by the underground economy auditors. CP 222. Such employment "expectations," created an institutional imperative to auditors to betray

WTA, as well as the individual Carriers, have incurred extensive costs and attorney fees in these administrative proceedings. CP 224.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> It is impossible to know because ESD keeps this information "confidential." What is known for sure is that there has been a multiplicity of audits and appeals, eleven revealed in pleadings before the court; ESD can do more audits whenever it chooses to do so for firms and different time periods; the appellate process is expensive and uncertain; and the amount involved may not make it economic to appeal even if the assessment is unwarranted.

principles of auditor objectivity. CP 222.<sup>6</sup> Stewart even wrote the Governor's office suggesting she get a cut of what she collected. CP 493.

The lack of objectivity is demonstrated by ESD's wholesale disregard of its own Tax Audit Manual which governs how an audit like those here must be conducted. The Manual dictates the factors that an auditor must consider when determining whether there is an employer/employee or an independent contractor relationship. CP 491. An auditor is required to look at a whole range of factors, and ESD even provides a form for the various factors to be considered. CP 491-92. ESD's separate Status Manual contains specific guidelines to determine if a truck driver is an employee or an independent trucker and, if an employment relationship exists, it specifies how to determine if the exceptions in RCW 50.04.140 are satisfied. CP 492.

The auditors here calculated taxes on the basis of the 1099s issued by the Carriers to owners/operators, which included payment for equipment which is not "wages" subject to taxation. CP 223-24. The auditors knew the owner/operators had supplied equipment because they had the contracts for the lease of equipment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Auditor objectivity is required by Generally Accepted Auditing Standards which the ESD Tax Manual required all of its auditors to follow. CP 220-21.

When the deliberate imposition of tax liability no matter the circumstances became known, WTA alerted the Governor's Office about the inadequacies in ESD's audits and the impact of the federal laws and regulations on those audits. CP 223. Commissioners Trause, Ward, and Byington were informed of WTA's concerns. CP 223, 493.<sup>7</sup> They took no remedial action.

# (6) The Administrative Appeals of the Carriers' Improper Assessments

In their administrative appeals, the Carriers raised the issues of federal preemption,<sup>8</sup> and the rigged audits and their predetermined outcomes through consolidated motions for summary judgment; they sought to exclude the audits and orders of assessments. CP 224, 494.

The Carriers presented evidence that eliminating owner/operators would restructure the trucking industry and affect "prices, routes, and services," a predicate to establishing federal preemption. CP 494. ALJ

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Trause became involved with System's assessment and ordered ESD to attempt to enforce it, even though his Director of Tax Compliance could not discern the basis for Stewart's conclusions (as required by applicable standards) and even though the assessment was the product of an institutional framework created under his direction that precluded auditor objectivity and violated ESD's policies and procedures. CP 470. Trause, Byington, and Ward directed the Carriers' audits, which they knew or should have known violated ESD standards. CP 470, 493.

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