# 47681-9-11

RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Feb 17, 2015, 4:48 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

RECEIVED BY

#### NO. 90584-3

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

 WASHINGTON TRUCKING ASSOCIATIONS, a Washington non-profit corporation; EAGLE SYSTEMS, INC., a Washington corporation; GORDON TRUCKING, INC., a Washington corporation; HANEY TRUCK LINE, INC., a Washington corporation; JASPER TRUCKING, INC., a Washington corporation; PSFL LEASING, INC., a Washington corporation; and SYSTEM-TWT TRANSPORTATION d/b/a SYSTEM-TWT, a Washington limited liability company,

#### Appellants,

v.

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

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Plaintiffs' judicial estoppel argument about challenge to the audit process in the administrative proceedings, Br. Appellants at 19 n.14, is made in a footnote only, and without analysis of the doctrine or its elements. The Court should decline to consider the argument. Besides, saying that the argument must be raised in the administrative

remedies and cannot establish doing so would be futile within the meaning of law, the superior court properly granted dismissal.

The doctrine of primary jurisdiction is based on similar principles. It applies when a claim, originally cognizable in the courts, requires an administrative body with special competence to resolve certain issues before the court exercises its jurisdiction over the matter. In such a case the judicial process is suspended pending the administrative body's action. *Dioxin/Organochlorine Center v. Dep't of Ecology*, 119 Wn.2d 761, 775, 837 P.2d 1007 (1992) (affirming dismissal of declaratory judgment action for failure to exhaust administrative remedies). "The court will usually defer to agency jurisdiction if enforcement of a private claim involves a factual question requiring expertise that the courts do not have or involves an area where a uniform determination is desirable." *Vogt v. Seattle-First Nat'l Bank*, 117 Wn.2d 541, 554, 817 P.2d 1364 (1991).

Here, the Department has special competence to determine whether an owner-operator is in employment of a motor carrier under the Employment Security Act. The Commissioner's Review Office has not been given the opportunity to apply its expertise.

In addition, collateral estoppel principles announced by this Court in *Reninger v. Dep't of Corrections* support bar of the tortious interference

proceedings is not to say that the argument has merit. It is up to the Carriers to challenge in the APA appeals the rulings they believe are in error.

claim. 134 Wn.2d 437, 951 P.2d 782 (1998). This is because final resolution of the Carriers' administrative appeals ultimately will bar this lawsuit since the Carriers get only "one bite of the apple" with respect to their claims. *Id.* at 454 (where litigants pursued administrative appeals relating to personnel disputes and then sued in tort attempting to raise the same arguments and issues as wrongful constructive discharge and tortious interference, plaintiffs "were entitled to one bit of the apple, and they took that bite. That should have been the end of it."). Collateral estoppel bars a party from repeating in a lawsuit the same allegations raised in administrative proceedings.<sup>26</sup> *Id.* ("The normal rules of collateral estoppel apply here to prevent successive and vexatious litigation."). Collateral estoppel applies despite some differences in available relief. *Id.* at 453 ("courts look to disparity of relief to determine whether sufficient incentive existed for the concerned party to litigate vigorously in the administrative hearing").

Plaintiffs' civil claims are premised upon the assertion that the Department was wrong to treat owner-operators as in employment of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Collateral estoppel, or issue preclusion, prevents relitigation of an issue after the party estopped has already had a full and fair opportunity to present its case. *Hanson* v. *City of Snohomish*, 121 Wn.2d 552, 561, 852 P.2d 295 (1993). The requirements for application of collateral estoppel are: (1) the issue decided in the prior adjudication must be identical with the one presented in the second; (2) the prior adjudication must have ended in a final judgment on the merits; (3) the party against whom the plea is asserted was a party or in privity with a party to the prior adjudication; and (4) application of the doctrine must not work an injustice. *Id*.

Carriers for unemployment tax purposes, that federal law preempts enforcement of the assessments, and/or that the Department's audits were improperly conducted. These claims were each raised by the Carriers in the administrative review proceedings; indeed, they are explicit reasons a party may seek reversal under RCW 34.05.570(3). There is no showing of disparity in relief available in the two settings (except to the extent Plaintiffs claim entitlement to attorney fees under 42 U.S.C. § 1988, discussed below), and, in any event, the Carriers have vigorously litigated their administrative appeals. Collateral estoppel will apply despite any alleged disparity in relief. Therefore, this Court's *Reninger* opinion further supports bar of the tortious interference claim.

D. Plaintiffs Cannot Prove Tortious Interference With Business Expectancies Or Contractual Relationships Because The Tax Assessments Are Consistent With Binding Law And Do Not Cause Breach Or Termination Of Carriers' Relationships With Owner-Operators

Even if Plaintiffs' tortious interference claim is not barred by RCW 50.32.180 or by exhaustion or primary jurisdiction or collateral estoppel, it fails as a matter of law and was properly dismissed because assessing unemployment taxes against the Carriers does not constitute tortious interference with their contractual relationships with their owneroperators. While Plaintiffs assert that the owner-operators should be treated as independent contractors and not in their employment for tax

purposes and that enforcement of the Employment Security Act is preempted, these arguments were already rejected by the Court of Appeals in *Western Ports*. 110 Wn. App. at 450-58 (owner-operator was in employment of the motor carrier under the Act, and federal transportation law, including the FAAAA, does not preempt the Employment Security Act). While Plaintiffs may disagree with this case, it is controlling law, and for the Department and its employees to take a position consistent with this law in the course of their official duties does not amount to tortious interference with business expectancies or contracts. Plaintiffs' challenge to *Western Ports*, including their preemption arguments, can be raised on judicial review pursuant to the APA.<sup>27</sup>

. . . . . . . . . . . . .

"A claim of intentional interference requires (1) the existence of a valid contractual relationship of which the defendant has knowledge, (2) intentional interference with an improper motive or by improper means that causes breach or termination of the contractual relationship, and (3) resultant damage." *Elcon Const., Inc. v. E. Wash. Univ.*, 174 Wn.2d 157, 168, 273 P.3d 965 (2012) (citations omitted).<sup>28</sup> "Exercising one's legal

<sup>28</sup> Plaintiffs incorrectly assert that Defendants challenge the tortious interference claim only on the basis of improper motive or means. Br. Appellants at 33. Defendants

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Plaintiffs allege that under *Penick v. Emp't Sec. Dep't*, 82 Wn. App. 30, 39, 917 P.2d 136 (1996), owner-operators are not subject to unemployment compensation taxes, and Defendants "[s]uddenly" decided to "change the rules." Br. Appellants at 10, 11. This is not so. The language in *Penick* about owner-operators is dicta, and the court's holding six years later in *Western Ports*, 110 Wn. App. at 450-58, that an owner-operator was in employment of the carrier for unemployment purposes, controls.

interest in good faith is not improper interference." *Id.* Further, "[a]ction is not improper when the interference in contractual relations fosters a 'social interest of greater public import than is the social interest invaded."" *Brownsville Golden Age Nursing Home, Inc. v. Wells*, 839 F.2d 155, 159 (3d Cir. 1988) (citations omitted); Restatement (Second) of Torts § 766 comment c. at 10. Importantly, another court held "the imposition of unemployment tax liability on a putative employer concerning services performed by individuals working under a contract purporting to create an independent contractor relationship between the parties" does not infringe upon a trucking carrier's contractual relationship with a driver. *SZL, Inc. v. Indus. Claim Appeals Office*, 254 P.3d 1180, 1188 (Colo. Ct. App. 2011).

Plaintiffs complain that the Defendants taxed equipment and drivers who performed no services in Washington, allegedly forcing Plaintiffs to incur unnecessary expenses in the appeal process. Br. Appellants at 16, 17, 21, 23, 35, 39, 41, 42, 43. Even if this were true, taxing equipment or drivers not working in Washington does not tortiously interfere with the relationship between owner-operators and carriers. The

challenged all claims—including the tortious interference claim—on the basis of RCW 50.32.180, exhaustion, primary jurisdiction, and collateral estoppel based on arguments pursued in administrative proceedings. CP 252-78; CP 643-68. Defendants also argued Plaintiffs cannot establish damage to Carriers' relationships with owner-operators through challenges to the assessment *amounts*, as opposed to alleged unlawfulness of any tax assessments at all (e.g., by preemption, or by a determination the owner-operators are independent contractors). CP 654-55.

alleged interference must cause breach or termination of the contractual relationship in order to make a claim for tortious interference. *Elcon Const.*, 174 Wn.2d at 168. As such, Plaintiffs' tortious interference claim is based on their assertion that services performed by owner-operators are not taxable, and that taxing such services will preclude the Carriers from contracting with them. *See* CP 214-31. But taxes on equipment (as opposed to on personal services for operation of the equipment) or on services performed by owner-operators working outside Washington relates only to the *amount* of tax, and even then may have no effect on the taxes assessed for each owner-operator because the amount of yearly earnings taxed is capped per worker. *See* RCW 50.24.010.

Plaintiffs also err in suggesting the Department's reclassification of persons as in employment for unemployment insurance purposes harms the Carriers' relationships with owner-operators for other legal purposes or will necessarily result in "restructuring the trucking industry." Br. Appellants at 1. The Employment Security Act explicitly covers services performed in interstate commerce by persons who under other laws may be considered independent contractors. RCW 50.04.100. A determination that the owner-operators are in the Carriers' employment for unemployment tax purposes does not affect their classification for other purposes nor preclude use of owner-operators.

Plaintiffs' discussion of *Pleas v. City of Seattle*, 112 Wn.2d 794, 774 P.2d 1158 (1989), and *Sintra, Inc. v. City of Seattle*, 119 Wn.2d 1, 829 P.2d 765 (1992), Br. Appellants at 34-35, is off-point because here, there is no final determination by any tribunal that the Department's tax assessments are improper. The finding of intentional interference in *Pleas* was based in part on the city's failure to process building permit applications "promptly and diligently and in good faith' as required by the judgment of the court" entered more than eight years before the city approved the permit. 112 Wn.2d at 799. The *Sintra* case also involved violation of a court order. There, without seeking a stay or supersedeas order, the city continued to enforce an ordinance after it had been ruled invalid by the superior court. 119 Wn.2d at 23-24.

But here, ALJ Gay's interlocutory order of remand placed on the Carriers the burden of providing evidence for the Department to consider in reissuing assessments, CP 300 ("the burden should be on the taxpayer to provide this information, with some evidentiary support"), and is thus not a determination that the Department's assessments were improper or illegal or inflated, as repeatedly argued by Plaintiffs.<sup>29</sup> While the Plaintiffs

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> See also W. Ports, 110 Wn. App. at 451 (burden on taxpayer to prove exemption from taxation); RCW 50.12.080 and WAC 192-340-020 (authorizing use of best information available when employer fails to provide wage information during an audit). ALJ Gay's instruction, CP 299-302, that the Carriers must produce evidence to the Department relating to the value of equipment, situs of work, and corporate form of

argue that the Department's assessments are inconsistent with ALJ Gay's order, this is not so, and in any event this is subject to review only in the administrative review proceedings. *Pleas* and *Sintra* are distinguishable because there is no final determination of impropriety on Defendants' part.

The cases cited by Plaintiffs about good faith use of enforcement powers—U.S. v. La Salle Nat'l Bank, 437 U.S. 298, 98 S. Ct. 2357, 57 L. Ed. 2d 221 (1978), and U.S. v. Powell, 379 U.S. 48, 85 S. Ct. 248, 13 L. Ed. 2d 112 (1964), Br. Appellants at 28-29—were not tort suits against state tax officials and are thus inapposite. Those cases do not suggest a cause of action exists here.

### E. The Washington Trucking Association Fails To State A Claim For Which Relief Can Be Granted And Lacks Standing

The WTA was not audited or issued any tax assessments, so it did not suffer the alleged injuries asserted by the Carriers. Rather, the WTA seeks to recoup attorney fees it has voluntarily expended on behalf of the Carriers in their tax assessment appeals. *See* Br. Appellants at 40, 48. But attorney fee recovery is not an independent cause of action. Plaintiffs cite no authority for the proposition that such cause of action exists, and Defendants are aware of none. *DeHeer v. Seattle Post-Intelligencer*, 60 Wn.2d 122, 126, 372 P.2d 193 (1962) (court may generally assume that

owner-operators means that the Carriers had *not* carried their burden on the evidence then submitted, and the assessments were thus *lawful*, or at least potentially so.

where no authority is cited, counsel found none after a diligent search). Absent a contract or law that provides otherwise, the general rule for attorney fees in Washington, commonly referred to as the "American rule," is that each party in a civil action will pay its own attorney fees and costs. *Cosmopolitan Eng'g Grp., Inc. v. Ondeo Degremont, Inc.*, 159 Wn.2d 292, 296, 149 P.3d 666 (2006). Since litigants cannot obtain fees for recognized causes of action unless the law or a contract so provides, simply incurring litigation costs cannot itself give rise to a cause of action.

In any event, the WTA lacks standing to bring the attorney fee claim. Standing requires a party to show "a personal injury fairly traceable to the challenged conduct and likely to be redressed by the requested relief," and that the claim "falls within the zone of interests protected by the statute or constitutional provision at issue." *State v. Johnson*, 179 Wn.2d 534, 552, 315 P.3d 1090 (2014) (citation omitted). The WTA's incurrence of attorney fees and costs was traceable to the Plaintiffs' decision, not to the Defendants' conduct.

Also, the claim for fees and costs is not a recognizable injury for which courts may provide redress. Plaintiffs admit that no authority exists allowing them to recover their legal expenses in the administrative process. Br. Appellants at 43. The attorney fee claim seeks to circumvent the statute barring recovery of attorney fees in the administrative appeal

process. *See* RCW 34.05.574(3) ("The court may award damages, compensation, or ancillary relief only to the extent expressly allowed by another provision of law.").

To the extent the WTA claims any other damages on behalf of members (e.g., relating to alleged incorrectness of assessments issued to other motor carriers not named as plaintiffs), the association lacks standing. For associations there is a special standing test. Int'l Ass'n of Firefighters, Local 1789 v. Spokane Airports, 146 Wn.2d 207, 215, 45 P.3d 186 (2002), amended on denial of recons., 50 P.3d 618 (2002). The association must prove: (1) its members would otherwise have standing to sue in their own right; (2) the interests it seeks to protect are germane to its purpose; and (3) neither the claim asserted nor the relief requested requires. the participation of individual members. Id. In determining whether the third prong has been met, courts consider "whether the circumstances of the case and the relief requested make individual participation of the association's members indispensable." Id. This requirement is needed for courts to maintain control over proceedings. See Id. Further, "an organization lacks standing where it 'seeks damages and yet alleges neither monetary injury to itself nor assignment of its members' damage claims."" Nat'l Elec. Contractors Ass'n v. Emp't Sec. Dep't, 109 Wn. App. 213, 221, 34 P.3d 860 (2001) (citation omitted).

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